#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12-578 L.T. CASE NOS. 5D08-3779, 5D10-3021

	. /
Respondent.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
v.	
Petitioner,	
LEIGHDON HENRY,	

# PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review From a Decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal

CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 215 S. Monroe Street, Suite 500 Post Office Drawer 190 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 Telephone: (850) 224-1585 Facsimile: (850) 222-0398 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. 4200 Miami Tower 100 Southeast Second Street Miami, Florida 33131 Telephone: (305) 530-0050 Facsimile: (305) 530-0055

By: Peter D. Webster
David L. Luck
Christoper B. Corts
Pro-Bono Counsel for Petitioner

## **

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Approximately two months after his 17th birthday, Petitioner, Leighdon Henry, entered a woman's apartment, sexually assaulted her while armed with a firearm, and then forced her to drive him to a nearby ATM to withdraw \$790 from her checking account. (T. 2:16-84, 90-106; T. 3:240, 282). Mr. Henry also took the woman's purse and mobile phone and several items from her kitchen (a bottle of champagne, three boxes of macaroni and cheese, and a can of chicken broth). (T. 2:29, 36, 48, 104, 162-64, 171; T. 3:238). After they left the ATM, the woman was able to escape, but her car remained with Mr. Henry. (T. 2:44-49).

The next day, after receiving an anonymous tip, Orlando-area police arrested Mr. Henry at his residence. (T. 2:175-86; T. 3:230-40, 244-451). At the time of arrest, Mr. Henry was in possession of a small amount of marijuana. (T. 2:175-86, 195-97; T. 3:237). The police were ultimately able to recover the woman's abandoned car and purse, a firearm, approximately \$500 of the \$790 withdrawn from the ATM, and the items removed from the woman's kitchen. (T. 2:161-66, 169-72; T. 3:231-38, 244-251). Following arrest, Mr. Henry was committed to State custody as a juvenile. (TR. 1:24-25).

The State, however, filed a motion to transfer Mr. Henry's case from juvenile to adult court pursuant to section 985.227, Florida Statutes (2006),<sup>2</sup> which motion was granted. (TR. 1:28-69). As a result of this sequence of offenses involving a single victim, Mr. Henry was tried and convicted in adult court of eight felonies and one misdemeanor: three counts of sexual battery with a deadly weapon or physical force; one count of kidnapping with intent to commit a felony (with a firearm); two counts of robbery; one count of carjacking; one count of burglary of a dwelling; and one count of possession of 20 grams or less of cannabis. (TR. 1:179-96; TR. 2:218-23; IR. 11-30).

At the time of sentencing on October 17, 2008, Mr. Henry was 18 years, 9 months, and 2 weeks of age. (3.800 R. 1:33). Following a hearing, the trial court determined Mr. Henry qualified as a sexual predator and sentenced him as follows:

- Three sexual-battery counts natural life in prison for each count;
- One kidnapping count 30 years in prison;
- Two robbery counts -15 years in prison for each count;
- One carjacking count 30 years in prison;
- One burglary count 15 years in prison; and
- One cannabis-possession count 364 days in jail.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subsequently renumbered as section 985.557, Florida Statutes.

(TR. 2:213-14, 224-41, 245-50; IR. 38-59; SR. 1:369-83). The trial court ordered the sexual-battery and kidnapping counts and one of the robbery counts to run concurrently with each other, and the carjacking and burglary counts and remaining robbery count to run consecutively to each other and to the other sentences. (TR. 2:227-41; IR. 41-49; 54-59). The court also awarded Mr. Henry 1 year and 225 days of jail-time credit, which satisfied the cannabis-possession sentence. (*Id.*; see also IR. 35, 58).

In total, for a sequence of offenses that he committed as a juvenile against a single victim, Mr. Henry received a life sentence plus an additional 60 years in prison. (SR. 1:377-83). Because Florida has abolished its parole system for adults and juveniles sentenced under the Criminal Punishment Code, Mr. Henry's sentences necessarily offered no opportunity for parole. (3.800 R. 1:10). In seeking these sentences, the State asserted that Mr. Henry's juvenile status was irrelevant; that the trial court needed to guarantee Mr. Henry would never be released from prison; and that Mr. Henry was irredeemably dangerous "and that's not going to change in the next ten, twenty or thirty years." (SR. 1:369-70). The trial court agreed, stating that the maximum penalty of life was "the only appropriate penalty." (SR. 1:377-82).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Before trial, the State offered Mr. Henry a plea bargain of 30 years total for all offenses. (SR. 1:371-72).

Mr. Henry filed a notice of appeal with the Fifth District Court of Appeal on October 24, 2008. (R. 1-15; TR. 2:251). After his public defender filed a brief under *Anders v. California*, 386 U.S. 738 (1967), and withdrew, Mr. Henry proceeded *pro se*. (R. 16-18). While his appeal was pending, the United States Supreme Court issued *Graham v. Florida*, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010). In *Graham*, the Court held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution preclude the states from sentencing juvenile non-homicide offenders to die in prison with no opportunity for parole. *Id.* at 2019-34.

Based on *Graham*, while his appeal was still pending and before the district court ruled on his counsel's motion to withdraw, Mr. Henry's public defender filed a motion and amended motion with the trial court pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)(2). (3.800 R. 1:1-4, 7-12; *cf.* SR. 5:625).<sup>4</sup> Mr. Henry requested that the trial court resentence him on all counts, contending that his life sentences on the sexual-battery counts and the additional, combined 60-year sentence on the remaining counts were cruel and unusual punishment. (*Id.*).

Additionally, Mr. Henry made an oral motion, and the public defender filed a written motion on his behalf, requesting that the trial court declare section 921.002(1)(e), Florida Statutes, unconstitutional as applied to him.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rule 3.800(b)(2) permits such motions to be filed while an appeal is pending.

Specifically, he contended that *Graham* entitles him to parole consideration, but that under this statutory subsection, there is "no parole in Florida for crimes committed on or after October 1, 1998." (3.800 R. 1:19; 32-36). The trial court denied the oral and written motions to declare section 921.002(1)(e) unconstitutional, but granted the 3.800(b)(2) motion exclusively as to the life sentences imposed for the sexual-battery counts. (3.800 R. 1:19, 37). Mr. Henry separately appealed to the Fifth District the order denying his constitutional challenge to section 921.002(1)(e), which the Fifth District subsequently consolidated with the already-pending appeal. (R. 92, 124).

The trial court resentenced Mr. Henry to 30 years in prison on each sexual-battery count, to run concurrently with each other but consecutively to the remaining counts. (3.800 R. 1:6, 14-31). Thus, following resentencing, Mr. Henry – whose life expectancy is a little over 64 years – received a combined sentence of 90 years in prison without the possibility of parole. *Henry v. State*, 82 So. 3d 1084, 1086 & n.1 (Fla. 5th DCA 2012); (3.800 R. 1:6, 14-31; PSR. at 25).

Later, while his appeal remained pending, Mr. Henry filed a *pro se* motion under *Graham*, requesting that the Fifth District relinquish jurisdiction to the trial court with directions to correct his "patently illegal" 90-year resentence. (R. 107-110). The Fifth District denied this request and imposed a deadline for filing and serving Mr. Henry's *pro se* initial brief. (R. 110).

Under Florida law, assuming he receives the maximum amount of available meritorious and incentive gain-time, Mr. Henry must serve at least 85 percent of his 90-year resentence – a minimum total of 76.5 years in prison. *Henry*, 82 So. 3d at 1086 & n.1 (citing § 921.002(1)(e), Fla. Stat.). Mr. Henry's age at the time of sentencing (18 years) combined with his minimum total sentence (76.5 years), means he will not be eligible for release until he is 94.5 years of age – which is 30.2 years (three decades) beyond his life expectancy of 64.3 years. *Id.*; *see also* (3.800 R. 1:33; PSR. at 25). As Mr. Henry stated in his *pro se* reply brief below, "the only release that [he] can look forward to is dying in prison." (Fifth DCA Reply Br. at 2).

Despite these facts and the decision in *Graham*, the Fifth District held that Mr. Henry's 90-year combined resentence – imposed without any opportunity for parole – passed constitutional muster. It did so by reasoning that, technically, "[Mr.] Henry did not (in the end) receive a life sentence without parole for a nonhomicide offense"; rather, based on a sequence of offenses involving a single victim, he received a lengthy term-of-years sentence that exceeds his life expectancy. 82 So. 3d at 1087-88. The Fifth District concluded by holding that "[Mr.] Henry's aggregate term of years sentence is not invalid under the Eighth Amendment." *Id.* at 1089.

After obtaining pro-bono counsel, Mr. Henry sought review in this Court.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

For purposes of criminal sentencing, children are different. Drawing a clear analytical distinction between juvenile and adult offenders, the United States Supreme Court in Graham v. Florida, 130 S. Ct. 2011 (2010), categorically held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution prohibit the states from sentencing juvenile non-homicide offenders to life in prison without providing realistic, meaningful opportunities to seek rehabilitationbased release. Graham's rule and rationale apply equally to juveniles sentenced to de facto life-without-parole sentences -i.e., sentences that exceed the juvenile non-homicide offender's life expectancy without providing The particular terminology used and the specific term of years consideration. imposed do not control. Rather, it is a non-homicide offender's juvenile status combined with the absence of parole opportunities within his or her lifetime that trigger Graham.

This is especially apparent as to Mr. Henry. The State imposed Mr. Henry's combined 90-year resentence for non-homicide offenses that he committed against a single victim, during a single night, when he was only 17. While these offenses were admittedly very serious, Mr. Henry was a child in the eyes of the law. Because Florida has largely abolished its parole system as to adult offenders (and has applied that same law to juveniles sentenced as adults), Mr. Henry's sentence

fails to provide any opportunity for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. Indeed, given that his sentence exceeds his life expectancy by three decades, it is a virtual certainty that Mr. Henry will die in prison. Thus, despite ostensibly being resentenced pursuant to *Graham*, the Fifth District's decision below ensures that Mr. Henry will never receive the parole opportunity contemplated by *Graham*.

Therefore, Mr. Henry's 90-year resentence falls squarely within the ambit of *Graham* and violates the Eighth Amendment and its Florida cognate. The only remedy that ensures *Graham* compliance is to reopen Florida's existing parole system to juvenile non-homicide offenders. While the State is not required to release offenders like Mr. Henry, it must provide them realistic, meaningful opportunities to seek release within their lifetimes. This Court should reverse the decision below and hold unconstitutional, as applied, those Florida Statutes that preclude parole eligibility for juvenile non-homicide offenders.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. MR. HENRY'S 90-YEAR RESENTENCE VIOLATES THE FEDERAL EIGHTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

On May 17, 2010, the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution prohibit the states from sentencing juvenile non-homicide offenders to die in prison with no possibility of

parole. *Graham v. Florida*, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2021-34 (2010). In issuing this decision, the Court left to the states, "in the first instance," the responsibility for determining "the means and mechanisms for compliance." *Id.* at 2030. More than two years after the Court's decision, the Florida Legislature and Governor have not provided any mechanism for complying with *Graham*. 5 It is time for this Court to act and ensure that the state which caused *Graham* complies with its mandate.

Every year, as many as 200,000 U.S. juveniles are prosecuted as adults and sentenced to prison terms served side-by-side with hardened adult convicts. Mary Berkheiser, *Death Is Not So Different After All: Graham v. Florida and the Court's* "Kids Are Different" Eighth Amendment Jurisprudence, 36 VT. L. REV. 1, 45 (2011); Neelum Arya, *Using Graham v. Florida to Challenge Juvenile Transfer Laws*, 71 LA. L. REV. 99, 106-08 (2010). Through its various direct-filing and waiver laws, "Florida has been a national leader" in contributing to this number.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For example, during the 2011 Florida legislative session, *Graham*-compliance legislation died in committee despite the fact that the Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association supported the proposed legislation. Jeff Kunerth, "Graham Law" Would Replace Life Without Parole for Juveniles, ORLANDO SENTINEL, Apr. 12, 2011, available at http://articles.orlandosentinel.com/2011-04-12/features/oslife-without-parole-graham-20110412 1 terrance-graham-parole-juveniles accessed Feb. 10, 2013) (discussing 2011 Senate Bill 160 and 2011 House Bill 29); http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2011/0160; also see http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2011/0029 (last accessed Feb. 10, 2013). Proposed Graham-compliance legislation suffered the same fate during the 2012 legislative session. See http://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2012/0212; http://flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2012/0005 (last accessed Feb. 10, 2013).

Arya, *supra*, 71 LA. L. REV. at 106. Indeed, "Florida – where most of the *Graham* inmates are housed – leads the nation in incarceration rates and stringency in law and sentencing, making it the most punitive of the 50 states as measured by more than 40 variables." Cara H. Drinan, *Graham on the Ground*, 87 WASH. L. REV. 51, 82-83 (2012). "Florida is clearly the most zealous state for sentencing juveniles to life without parole for" non-homicide offenses. Sally T. Green, *Realistic Opportunity For Release Equals Rehabilitation: How the States Must Provide Meaningful Opportunity for Release*, 16 BERKELEY J. CRIM. L. 1, 2 (2011).

Florida's penchant for imposing this type of "cruel and unusual" punishment led to *Graham*. In fact, Florida has sentenced and incarcerated more *Graham* offenders than all other states combined. *See* 130 S. Ct. at 2023-26. Therefore, it is only fitting that this Court may now right this wrong for all of Florida's juvenile non-homicide offenders.

#### A. Standard Of Review – De Novo.

This case centers on the meaning of the Eighth Amendment's "cruel and unusual punishment" clause and its Florida cognate. In addition, it raises a remedies issue that requires this Court to hold unconstitutional (as applied) those Florida Statutes that preclude juvenile non-homicide offenders from parole eligibility. "The determination of a statute's constitutionality and the interpretation

of a constitutional provision are both questions of law reviewed *de novo*." *Garcia* v. *Andonie*, 101 So. 3d 339, 343 (Fla. 2012).

#### B. Graham Requires The States To Provide Juvenile Non-Homicide Offenders With Realistic, Meaningful Opportunities To Demonstrate Rehabilitation And Seek Release Within Their Lifetimes.

#### 1. Graham's Analysis And Holding.

The Eighth Amendment and article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution both prohibit "cruel and unusual punishments." *See, e.g., Ventura v. State,* 2 So. 3d 194, 198 n.4 (Fla. 2009) ("The prohibition against 'cruel or unusual punishment' present in [article I, section 17] 'shall be construed in conformity with decisions of the United States Supreme Court which interpret the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment provided in the Eighth Amendment . . . .""). *Graham* held that this prohibition – viewed through a lens of "the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society" – categorically prohibits the states from sentencing juvenile non-homicide offenders to die in prison with no opportunity for parole. 130 S. Ct. at 2017-34. Under *Graham*, "juveniles" are those who commit such offenses before age 18. *Id.* at 2030.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Further, the Eighth Amendment applies to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause. *Robinson v. California*, 370 U.S. 660, 664-68 (1962).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Estelle v. Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 102 (1976) (quoting *Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958) (plurality)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Building upon *Graham*, the Court recently held that mandatory life-without-parole (LWOP) sentences for homicides committed by juveniles also violate the Eighth Amendment. *Miller v. Alabama*, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2460-75 (2012). As part of its rationale, the Court reiterated that, not only is "death different" – but "children are different too":

Roper [v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), which held that the Eighth Amendment prohibits death sentences for juvenile offenders,] and Graham establish that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing. Because juveniles have diminished culpability and greater prospects for reform, we explained, "they are less deserving of the most severe punishments."

. . . .

Our decisions rested not only on common sense – on what "any parent knows" – but on science and social science as well. . . . [W]e [have] cited studies showing that only a relatively small proportion of adolescents who engage in illegal activity develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior. And in *Graham*, we noted that developments in psychology and brain science continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds – for example, in parts of the brain involved in behavior control. We reasoned that those findings – of transient rashness, proclivity for risk, and inability to assess consequences – both lessened a child's "moral culpability" and enhanced the prospect that, as the years go by and neurological development occurs, his [or her] "deficiencies will be reformed."

. . . .

. . . [T]he distinctive attributes of youth diminish the penological justifications for imposing the harshest sentences on juvenile offenders, even when they commit terrible crimes.

\_ 0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 188 (1976) (joint opinion of Stewart, Powell, and Stevens, JJ.) ("the penalty of death is different in kind from any other punishment"); see also, e.g., State v. Davis, 872 So. 2d 250, 254-55 (Fla. 2004) (same recognition from this Court).

. . . .

. . . [N]one of what [Roper and Graham] said about children – about their distinctive (and transitory) mental traits and environmental vulnerabilities – is crime-specific.

...

... [Just as] "death is different," **children are different too**. Indeed, it is the odd legal rule that does not have some form of exception for children.

Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2458-70 (some citations, quotation marks, and footnotes omitted); see also generally Berkheiser, supra, 36 VT. L. REV. 1; Stephen St. Vincent, Kids Are Different, 109 MICH. L. REV. FIRST IMPRESSIONS 9 (2010).

The Court also provided similar reasoning when holding that *Miranda* custody inquiries must account for the fact that the questioned person is under 18:

A child's age is "far more than a chronological fact." It is a fact that "generates commonsense conclusions about behavior and perception." Such conclusions apply broadly to children as a class. . . . [T]he differentiating characteristics of youth are universal. . . . Children cannot be viewed simply as miniature adults.

J.D.B. v. North Carolina, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 2403-04 (2011) (quoting Eddings v.Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982); Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 652, 674

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See also, e.g., Br. of the Sentencing Project as Amicus Curiae at 5-14, Graham, SCOTUS Case No. 08-7412; Br. of Juvenile Law Ctr., et al., as Amici Curiae at 2-20, Graham, SCOTUS Case No. 08-7412; Br. of Former Juvenile Offenders, et al., as Amici Curiae at 3-32, Graham, SCOTUS Case No. 08-7412.

On December 19, 2012, Petitioners Henry and Gridine jointly filed with this Court a motion for judicial notice accompanied by copies of all *amici* briefs submitted to the United States Supreme Court in *Graham*. This briefing is also *available at* <a href="http://www.scotusblog.com/case-files/cases/graham-v-florida/">http://www.scotusblog.com/case-files/cases/graham-v-florida/</a> (last accessed Feb. 10, 2013).

(2004) (Breyer, J., dissenting, joined by Stevens, Souter, and Ginsburg, JJ.)) (citations and internal divisions omitted).

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