Electronically Filed 05/09/2013 12:08:54 PM ET

RECEIVED, 5/9/2013 12:13:33, Thomas D. Hall, Clerk, Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEIGHDON HENRY,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-578

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 773026

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 618550 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Fifth Floor Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax (386) 238-4997

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

observed, cases addressing proportionality fall into two general classifications. Id. at 2021. The first classification involves challenges to the length of term of years sentences, where the Court considers all of the circumstances of the case to determine whether the sentence is unconstitutionally excessive. Id. A court begins its analysis for determining whether a sentence for a term of years is grossly disproportionate by comparing the gravity of the offense with the severity of sentence. Id. at 2022. The second classification uses categorical rules to define Eighth Amendment standards. Id. The Court determined that Graham presented a categorical challenge, with the sentencing process itself being called into question. As the Court stated, "This case implicates a particular type of sentence as it applies to an entire class of offenders who have committed a range of crimes." Id. at 2021-22. The Court determined that a threshold comparison between the severity of the penalty and the gravity of the crime (the first approach) did not advance such analysis, so the appropriate analysis would be the one used in cases utilizing the categorical approach. Id. at 2023. The Court explained that the categorical restriction espoused therein was one involving, "only those juvenile offenders sentenced to life without parole solely for a nonhomicide offense." Id. After completing this analysis, the Court held:

that for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without

parole. This clear line is necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile nonhomicide offenders, who are not sufficiently culpable to merit that punishment.

Id. at 2030.

Henry's term-of-years sentences are not subject to а categorical challenge without crossing this "clear line." As stated, a categorical challenge involves a "particular type of sentence," and there is no "particular type of sentence" here, other than an aggregate term of years. While the First District later stated that a de facto life sentence is one that "exceeds the defendant's life expectancy," this is not a categorical type of sentence, evidenced by the fact that it would have to be evaluated on a case by case basis. Other courts have used the term "de facto life sentence," but even so, have struggled with what exactly constitutes a "de facto life sentence." See Henry, 82 So.3d at 1089 ("At what number of years would the Eighth Amendment become implicated in the sentencing of a juvenile: twenty, thirty, forty, fifty, some lesser or greater number? Would gain time be taken into account? Could the number vary from offender to offender, based on race, gender, socioeconomic class or other criteria? Does the number of crimes matter?"). Additional considerations, not mentioned by the district court, may include minimum mandatory terms and potential downward departures. Significantly, a sentence based on an offender's "life expectancy" would most likely vary from offender to offender, based on race, gender, socioeconomic

class, or even genetic predisposition, i.e, the life expectancy of a (___year old)(race)(gender). Respondent submits that categorical rules cannot be applied to a sentence that cannot even be defined.

Respondent would further note that Henry never presented a straight proportionality argument, i.e., whether his term-of-years sentences are grossly disproportionate when comparing the gravity of the offense with the severity of sentences, and submits he would have been hard pressed to make such argument in light of the crimes he committed. Instead, Henry appears to advocate for a new, hybrid categorical/disproportionality/life expectancy approach, i.e., the total term of years of the consecutive sentences for the eight crimes I committed constitutes a particular type of sentence that exceeds my life expectancy and applies to an entire class of offenders who have committed a range of crimes. As stated, there is no such category, and it certainly is not recognized in *Graham*.

In this respect, Respondent would point out that the *Graham* Court found that while the imposition of a life without parole sentence for a nonhomicide crime is unconstitutional, "[a] State need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before that term." *Id.* at 2034. Notably absent from the majority decision in *Graham* was any mention or indication that "the Court's opinion affects the imposition of a sentence to a term of years without the possibility of parole."

Id. at 2058 (Alito, J. dissenting). Indeed, that the Court's holding did not involve a defined term of years was the entire point of Justice Alito's separate dissenting opinion. See id. See also, Henry, 82 So.3d at 1087, wherein the district court observed that the dissenting opinions in Graham discussed its nonapplication to term-of-year sentences.

Florida district courts are not alone in finding that Graham is limited to life sentences without the possibility of parole and in rejecting its application to lengthy term-of-years sentences. An intermediate Colorado appellate court recently surveyed the current legal landscape on this issue. While that court eventually concluded that an aggregate sentence of 112 years was the functional equivalent of a life sentence and thus violative of the Eighth Amendment, its reasoning is far from sound, and actually demonstrates the opposite of that conclusion. *People v. Ranier*, 2013 WL 1490107 (Colo. Ct. App. April 11, 2013). The *Ranier* court first acknowledged the line of cases, including Florida's *Henry* and *Walle*, that have read *Graham* narrowly and either explicitly or implicitly rejected the argument that *Graham* applies to lengthy

*,*20

term-of-years sentences.⁶ The court stated, however, that it was "more persuaded by the reasoning in a number of other cases where courts have explicitly or implicitly held that *Graham's* holding or its reasoning can and should be extended to apply to term-of-year sentences that result in a de facto life without parole sentence." *Id.* at *10. However, those cases are not necessarily greater in

^{&#}x27; Additional cases referenced and interpreted by The Ranier are: Bunch v. State, 685 F.3d 546, 550 (6th Cir. court 2010) (upholding an Ohio state court's determination that an 89 year sentence for a juvenile nonhomicide offender did not violate the Eighth Amendment on the basis that it is clear that Graham does not apply to aggregate sentences that amount to the practical equivalent of life without parole); Goins v. Smith, 2012 WL 3023306 at *6 (N.D. Ohio No. 4:09-CV-1551, July 24, 2012) (unpublished opinion and order) ("even life-long sentences for juvenile nonhomicide offenders do not run afoul of Graham's holding unless the sentence is technically a life sentence without the possibility of parole"); State v. Kasic, 228 Ariz. 228, 265 P.2d 410, 415-16 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2011) (concurrent and consecutive terms totaling 139.75 years for a nonhomicide child offender furthered Arizona's penological goals and was not unconstitutional under Graham); Adams v. State, 288 Ga. 695, 707 S.E.2d 369, 365 (2011) (child's 75 year sentence and lifelong probation for child molestation did not violate Graham); People v. Taylor, 2013 Il App (3d) 110876, 368 Ill. 634, 984 N.E.2d 580 (Ill. App. Ct. 2013) (Graham does not apply because the defendant was only sentenced to forty years and not life without possibility of parole); Diamond v. State, 2012 WL 1431232 (Tex. Crim. App. Nos. 09-11-00478-CR & 09-11-00479-CR Apr. 25, 2012) (upholding a sentence of 99 years for a nonhomicide child offender without mentioning Graham). Cases not mentioned by that court include Smith v. State, 258 P.3d 913, 920 (Alaska App. 2011) (Graham applies only to juveniles sentenced to life without parole for nonhomicide offenses); People v. Gay, 960 N.E.2d 1272, 1279 (Ill. App. 2011) (finding that defendant lacked case law supporting his proposition that an aggregated sentence resulting from multiple convictions must ne considered a life without parole sentence); United States v. Scott, 610 F.3d 1009, 1018 (8th Cir. 2012) (rejecting application of Graham to sentence of 25 year old "because Graham was limited to defendants sentenced to life in prison without parole for crimes committed as a juvenile").

number, and they reflect the reasoning from only two states, California and Florida.

The Ranier court first reviewed People v. Caballero, 55 Cal.4th 262, 282 P.3d 291, 145 Cal.Rptr.3rd 286 (2012), and several intermediate California appellate decisions that had been decided "prior to and after" Caballero. The Ranier court completely ignored what the Henry court had observed was the "significant split" among the intermediate California appellate courts. Henry, 82 So.3d at 1088 (analyzing those California decisions, including the lower court Caballero opinion, which had affirmed a 110 yearlife sentence). Further, any decisions decided after the California Supreme Court's Caballero holding cannot be found as additional support for this proposition, because the intermediate courts were bound to follow it.

The Ranier court next noted that "although two Florida decisions have ruled to the contrary, we are more persuaded by the greater number of Florida cases that have applied Graham to sentences that are the functional equivalent of life without parole," and that it was particularly persuaded by the reasoning in Adams. Id. at *11. In simply counting cases, the Ranier court ignored Florida's appellate court structure, and the fact that three (and Respondent submits four) of its five district courts of appeal have applied Graham "as written." And while being particularly persuaded by Florida's First District in Adams, the

Ranier court never mentioned that fact that in that case the court had stated that if it was writing on a clean slate, it would affirm based the *Henry* decision. Thus, it appears that only one state supreme court, California's, has expanded the specific *Graham* holding to "de facto" life sentences.

Should this Court determine that *Graham's* limited holding should be taken across its "clear line" and beyond the specific "sentence of life without parole," there would have to be a means to first determine exactly what sentences cross that line, which would have to be more objectively calculated than "life expectancy," and what procedures would render it constitutional.⁷ Significantly, it is not the length of the sentence given to a juvenile convicted of a nonhomicide offense that could potentially violate *Graham*. It is the fact that Florida currently has no means to provide "some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation." The *Graham* Court held:

...that for a juvenile offender who did not commit homicide the Eighth Amendment forbids the sentence of life without parole. This clear line is necessary to prevent the possibility that life without parole sentences will be imposed on juvenile nonhomicide offenders who are not sufficiently culpable to warrant that punishment. Because "[t]he age of 18 is the point

^{&#}x27;As the Fifth District observed, there is language in the Graham majority opinion suggesting that no matter the number of offenses or victims or types of crimes, a juvenile may not receive a sentence that will cause him to spend his entire life incarcerated without a chance for rehabilitation, so it makes no logical difference whether the sentence is life or 107 years. Henry, 82 So.3d at 1089.

where society draws the line for many purposes between childhood and adulthood," those who were below that age when the offense was committed may not be sentenced to life without parole for a nonhomicide crime. *Roper*, 543 U.S., at 574, 125 S.Ct. 1183.

A State is not required to quarantee eventual freedom to a juvenile offender convicted of a nonhomicide crime. What the State must do, however, is give defendants like Graham some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and It is for the State, in the first rehabilitation. instance, to explore the means and mechanisms for compliance. It bears emphasis, however, that while the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile nonhomicide offender, it does not require the State to release that offender during his natural life. Those who commit truly horrifying crimes as juveniles may turn out to be irredeemable, and thus deserving incarceration for the duration of their lives. The Eighth Amendment does not foreclose the possibility that persons convicted of nonhomicide crimes committed before adulthood will remain behind bars for life. It does forbid States from making the judgment at the outset that those offenders never will be fit to reenter society.

130 S.Ct. at 2030. Thus, Henry's aggregate sentence of ninety years for eight felonies does not per se violate the constitution. Henry's aggregate term merely sets the outside limit for the amount of time that he can potentially spend behind bars, subject to a meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. Resentencing for a shorter term is not required under *Graham*, and in fact, presents the converse of the procedure forbidden by *Graham*, which would be a determination from the outset that an offender will be fit to reenter society at some point. *Compare Graham*, 130 S.Ct. at 2029.

As a potential solution, Henry urges this Court to find that the statutes denying juvenile nonhomicide offenders access to parole hearings are unconstitutional as applied, so that juveniles can become parole eligible, thus providing an opportunity for meaningful review and compliance with the Eighth Amendment. At first blush and on the surface, this may be an appealing proposition, but there are several obstacles to and problems with this approach at this time. First, from a procedural standpoint, while Henry filed a motion challenging the constitutionality of section §921.002(1)(e) in the trial court, it was not supported by any legal argument, and thus not sufficient to preserve an as applied constitutional challenge. It is well settled that the constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts must be raised at the trial level. Trushin v. State, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982). This Court has applied a procedural bar to a variety of Eighth Amendment claims, including claims that a sentence is unconstitutionally cruel under the Eighth Amendment. See Rigterink v. State, 66 So.3d 866, 897 (Fla. 2011); Gore v. State, 964 So.2d 1257, 1276 (Fla. 2007); Perez v. State, 919 So.2d 347, 377 (Fla. 2005); Fotopolous v. State, 608 So.2d 784, 794 n.7 (Fla. 1992).

Further, as argued by the State in the district court, Henry failed to meet his burden of alleging or demonstrating reversible error. See, e.g., § 924.051(7), Fla. Stat. (2007) (party

challenging judgment has burden of demonstrating prejudicial error and a conviction may not be reversed absent an express finding that prejudicial error occurred); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999) (finding that issues raised in appellate brief which contain no argument are deemed abandoned). Finally, Henry has set forth no specific legal argument in the instant case demonstrating how this statute is unconstitutional as applied to him. Statutes are presumed constitutional, and the party challenging the constitutionality bears the burden of demonstrating that it is invalid, and a conclusory argument cannot form a basis for reversal. Newell v. State, 875 So.2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). Henry has failed to meet this burden, so this issue is not properly before this Court at this time.

Respondent also submits that this Court cannot find that a statute is unconstitutional simply because it may provide a a problem. solution to The statute must actually be Respondent also notes that unconstitutional. this would potentially provide an overly broad solution to a limited problem. Henry asserts that if the existing parole system is opened to include all juvenile non-homicide offenders sentenced as adults, then Florida will be in compliance with the Eighth Amendment (MB at However, not all juveniles sentenced as adults receive an 40). extensive term of years, and there is no need to make them all parole eligible.

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